Case 2023AP000351 **Brief of Appellant** Filed 06-28-2023

Page 1 of 29

FILED 06-28-2023 **CLERK OF WISCONSIN COURT OF APPEALS**

STATE OF WISCONSIN COURT OF APPEALS **DISTRICT IV**

Case No. 2023AP351 - CR

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

v.

WAYNE TIMM,

Defendant-Appellant.

Appeal from the Judgment and Final Order **Denying Post-conviction Relief in the Circuit** Court for Clark County, the Honorable Todd P. Wolf, presiding

BRIEF OF DEFENDANT-APPELLANT

KATIE BABE Attorney for Defendant-Appellant State Bar No. 1052643

Lakeland Law Firm, LLC N27 W23957 Paul Road, Suite 206 Pewaukee, WI 53072 (262)347-2000 katie@lakelandlawfirm.net

TABLE OF CONTENT

ISSUES PRESENTED

1. Did the circuit court err in denying Timm's motion to suppress the search of his vehicle?

The circuit court answered: No. The court found that the officer had reasonable suspicion to stop Timm's vehicle for speeding and probable cause to search his vehicle based on *Ohio v. Robinette* and *State v. Williams*. Further, the court found, solely based on the officer's testimony, that Timm consented to the search of his vehicle.

2. Was trial counsel ineffective for failing to call Timm as a witness at the suppression hearing to testify that he did not give the officer consent to search his vehicle when Timm wanted to testify?

The circuit court answered: No. The court found, without holding a postconviction hearing, that the trial strategy is under the control of the defendant's attorney, that Timm would be giving up his right to self-incrimination if he had testified and that happens very rarely in criminal cases, and that Timm's credibility would have been easily impeached because of his past convictions and his pending cases at the time of the suppression hearing.

3. Did the circuit court err in denying Timm's postconviction motion and motion to reconsider postconviction decision without a *Machner* hearing?

Timm asserts this Court should reverse the circuit court's decision and remand this Case for a *Machner* hearing, as the circuit court still does not know the trial attorney's strategy for telling Timm he could not testify, made errors in fact finding, and assumed Timm would be incredible because of his prior record and cases pending at the time of the suppression hearing.

STATEMENT ON ORAL ARGUMENT AND PUBLICATION

The Defendant-Appellant does not request oral argument or publication. This case may be resolved by applying well-established legal principles to the facts of this case.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Officer Travis Schuld of the Spencer Police Department pulled over Wayne Timm on April 19, 2015 at approximately 11:40 p.m. R1. He testified that "My assignment was to keep an eye out for a white Pontiac Grand Prix." R38:6; App. 109. Officer Schuld was told by Police Chief Shawn Bauer that the driver of the Pontiac Grand Prix was "possibly involved – or the vehicle was involved in possible burglaries in the – in Spencer area." *Id.* Officer Schuld had no further information about the possible burglaries, whether the Pontiac Grand Prix' was used in the crimes, or whether the driver of Pontiac Grand Prix' was involved in the possible burglaries. *See id.* at 6-13; App. 109-116.

Chief Bauer testified that he became aware of Timm when he arrested him in 2010 for burglary and he had interviewed him in the past. *Id.* at 14-15; App. 117-118. Years ago on an unspecified date, Chief Bauer interviewed either Timm or his brother in the Wood County Jail, and either Timm or his brother said that they would not stop committing burglaries. *Id.* at 16; App. 119. The Chief knew there were burglaries occurring in Clark and Marathon

Case 2023AP000351 Brief of Appellant Filed 06-28-2023 Page 8 of 29

Counties before this April 19, 2015 traffic stop. *Id*. He also knew that Timm drove a white Pontiac because the car was involved in an unrelated traffic accident the month before this traffic stop. *Id*. 16-17; App. 119-120. On cross examination, Chief Bauer admitted that he was not aware of Timm or the white Pontiac Grand Prix' being involved in any of the recent burglaries. *Id*. at 17-18; App. 120-121.

Officer Schuld testified that, based on his radar, the white Pontiac that his chief told him to look for was traveling at 31 mph in a 25-mph zone. *Id.* at 5; App. 108. He did not issue Timm a speeding citation or written warning. *See id*.

As this officer walked up to Timm's car, he "shined the flashlight in the back seat [he] saw a tire iron... on the back seat..." *Id.* at 7; App. 110. There is no evidence in the record that a tire iron was used in the possible burglaries in the area. *See id* & R1. Officer Schuld obtained Timm's driver's license, returned to his squad car, called dispatch, and ran Timm through his mobile data computer. *Id.* He found Timm "was on probation for burglary and had a history of burglary charges." *Id.* Office Schuld testified that when he returned to Timm's car, he retained possession of Timm's driver's license and asked for consent to search his car. *Id.* at 12; App. 115.

This officer testified that Timm gave consent to search his vehicle while the officer had possession of Timm's driver's license. *Id.* Timm disputes that he gave consent to search his vehicle in his post-conviction affidavit. R181:4-8; App. 229-233. He asserts the officer never asked for consent. *Id* at 2; App. 230. The officer also testified that he did not tell

Case 2023AP000351 Brief of Appellant Filed 06-28-2023 Page 9 of 29

Timm he was free to leave before asking for consent. R38:13; App. 116. Timm was not arrested or taken to the police station. See id. After the search, none of the items in Timm's vehicle were seized and he was allowed drive away. See id. Mr. Timm asserts in his affidavit that based on his review of the squad car video, that is not in evidence, that about 45 minutes into the stop, after searching his car, Officer Schuld gave him back my driver's license. *Id*. at 3; App. 231. The facts detailed above originate from the one suppression hearing held in this Case on December 21, 2016, unless otherwise noted having originated from Timm's postconviction affidavit.

Procedural History

Mr. Timm did not testify at the suppression hearing. R38; App. 104-151. The court did not inquire as to why he did not testify. See id. The court denied Timm's Motion to Suppress. R38:25-29; App. 128-132. The court found that there was reasonable suspicion for the officer to stop the vehicle due to speeding. Id. at 25-26; App. 128-129. The court found that the officer used radar, and the radar was in proper working order. *Id.* at 25; App. 128. Even though the officer testified that Timm was driving 31 mph in a 25 mph zone (*id*. at 5; App. 108), the circuit court found that the officer testified Timm was "going 35 miles an hour in a 25 miles an hour zone" (*id.* at 25-26; App. 128-129). The court found that there may be some "pretext behind [the stop], but as long as they still have a valid reason for stopping the vehicle initially there's nothing improper with that." *Id.* at 26; App. 129. The circuit court found that the officer received Case 2023AP000351 Brief of Appellant Filed 06-28-2023 Page 10 of 29

consent to search the vehicle freely and voluntarily without coercion. *Id.* at 26-29; App. 129-132.

Nine months after the suppression hearing, on August 21, 2017, trial counsel filed a Motion to Reconsider Ruling Denying Defendant's Motion to Suppress Fruits of Vehicle Search. R47; App. 152-156. The state filed a written response (R51; App. 157-158), and trial counsel filed a written reply (R52; App. 159-161). Nearly three months later after the motion to reconsider was filed, the circuit court issued an oral ruling without further testimony again denying the defendant's motion. R144; App. 162-174.

Thereafter, Timm pled no contest to nine offenses charged in this Case, the court accepted his plea, and found him guilty of three counts of misdemeanor Entry into a Locked Building, three counts of misdemeanor Theft, and three counts of misdemeanor Criminal Damage to Property. Timm timely filed his Notice of Intent to Appeal.

After a no-merit report was rejected on the suppression issue that is the focus of this Appeal, a postconviction motion was filed (R178; App. 175-188) and was denied by written ruling without a hearing (R180; App. 224-225). A motion to reconsider the postconviction decision (R181; App. 226-233) was filed and, again, denied without a hearing by written decision (R184; App. 234-235).

ARUGMENT

I. The circuit court denied Timm's suppression motion in error

Case 2023AP000351 Brief of Appellant Filed 06-28-2023 Page 11 of 29

A. Principles of Law and Standard of Review

Fourth Amendment to the United States Constitution and Article I, Section 11 of the Wisconsin Constitution protect the right to be free from unreasonable searches. *State v. Dearborn*, 2010 WI 84, ¶ 14, 327 Wis.2d 252, 786 N.W.2d 97. A warrantless search is per se unreasonable unless it falls within a clearly delineated exception. State v. Artic, 2010 WI 83, ¶ 29, 327 Wis.2d 392, 786 N.W.2d 430. One such exception exists where "police have probable cause to believe that a vehicle contains evidence of a crime." *State v. Pozo*, 198 Wis.2d 705, 710, 544 N.W.2d 228 (Ct.App.1995). Probable cause to search exists when sufficient facts "excite an honest belief in a reasonable mind that the objects sought are linked with the commission of a crime, and that the objects sought will be found in the place to be searched." *State v. Sloan*, 2007 WI App 146, ¶ 23, 303 Wis.2d 438, 736 N.W.2d 189 (citation and emphasis omitted). Probable cause must be viewed in light of the knowledge and experience of the person conducting the search. See **Pozo**, 198 Wis.2d at 712–13, 544 N.W.2d 228. It contemplates the totality of the circumstances at the time of the search. *State v. Robinson*, 2010 WI 80, ¶ 27, 327 Wis.2d 302, 786 N.W.2d 463.

What constitutes reasonable suspicion of criminal activity to justify an investigative detention was first articulated by the U.S. Supreme Court in *Terry v. Ohio*. 392 U.S. 1, 88 S. Ct. 1860 (1968). The Court explained that in order to assess whether the officer's conduct in stopping an

Case 2023AP000351 Brief of Appellant Filed 06-28-2023 Page 12 of 29

individual was justifiable, a police officer "must be able to point to specific and articulable facts, which taken together with rational inferences from those facts, reasonably warrant that intrusion". *Id.* at 392 U.S. at 18, 88 S.Ct. at 1878. The objective criteria requires a court to determine "[whether] the facts available to the officer at the moment of ...the search 'warrant a man of reasonable caution in the belief that the action taken was appropriate." *Id.* at 21-22, 88 S.Ct. at 1880. A search based on an "inchoate and unparticularized suspicion or 'hunch' fails the constitutional test. *Id.* at 27, 88 S.Ct. at 1883. *See also Henes v. Morrissey*, 194 Wis.2d 338, 348, 533 N.W.2d 802, 806 (1995).

Courts review a circuit court's decision on a motion to suppress under a two-part standard. "When a Fourth Amendment challenge is raised at the trial court level, the trial court considers the evidence, makes findings of evidentiary or historical fact, and then resolves the issue by applying constitutional principles to those historical facts." *State v. Griffith*, 2000 WI 72, ¶ 23, 236 Wis. 2d 48, 58, 613 N.W.2d 72, 77. Reviewing courts give deference to the trial court's findings of evidentiary or historical fact, but determine the question of constitutional fact independently. *Id.* Whether Timm was still seized, within the meaning of the Fourth Amendment, when he gave his alleged consent presents a question of constitutional fact that is reviewed *de novo. See State v. Williams*, 2002 WI 94, ¶ 17, 255 Wis. 2d 1, 10, 646 N.W.2d 834, 838.

B. The circuit court incorrectly applied the Badger stop exception; this was not a Badger stop

Case 2023AP000351 Brief of Appellant Filed 06-28-2023 Page 13 of 29

The circuit court relied on two cases in reaching its finding. It held that under *State v. Williams*, Timm's consent to search was voluntary. R180:1-2; App. 224-225. In *Williams*, the officer used the Badger technique by handing the driver his license back, telling him that he was free to go, and taking a few steps away from the vehicle before turning around and asking the driver about illegal activity and asking for consent to search the vehicle. The Court determined a reasonable person in the driver's position would have felt free to leave under the totality of the circumstances. 2002 WI 94, ¶¶ 5-12, 255 Wis. 2d 1, 8, 646 N.W.2d 834.

The stop in this Case is distinctly different from the stop in *Williams*. Officer Schuld gave no verbal or physical action to clearly convey to Timm that the speeding matter had concluded, as the officer did in *Williams*. Unlike the officer in *Williams*, Officer Schuld did not use the Badger technique. He did not give Timm his driver's license back, tell Timm he was free to go, give Timm a warning or a citation for speeding, or physically move away from Timm's vehicle as though the stop had ended. To uphold the lower court's ruling requires a finding that that any driver can leave the stop without their driver's license. Timm was not given his license until after the search was completed.

Second, relying on *Ohio v. Robinette*, the circuit court denied Timm's suppression motion in part, because the officer was not required to advise Timm he was "free to go" before asking for consent to search. R180:1-2; App. 224-225. In *Robinette*, the defendant was stopped for speeding, the

Case 2023AP000351 Brief of Appellant Filed 06-28-2023 Page 14 of 29

officer ran his license, asked Robinette to step out of his car, issued him a verbal warning for speeding and handed back his license, before asking Robinette "One question before you get gone: [A]re you carrying any illegal contraband in your car? Any weapons of any kind, drugs, anything like that?," and then asking for consent to search his vehicle. 519 U.S. 33, 35-36. Even though the officer did not tell Robinette he was free to go, by giving Robinette the verbal warning and handing back his driver's license, a reasonable person in Robinette's situation would have believed he was no longer seized for purposes of the traffic stop and was free to leave.

The facts of *Robinette* are dissimilar to the facts leading up to the search of Timm's vehicle in this Case. Mr. Timm was still seized at the time the officer asked for consent to search Timm's vehicle. Officer Schuld's testified that he retained Timm's driver's license at the time that he asked for consent. R38:12.

Instead, the court should have looked to *State v*. *Lefler*, in which a driver was pulled over for failing to stop at a stop sign and had a screw driver hanging out of his pocket. 2013 WI App 22, 346 Wis. 2d 220, 827 N.W.2d 650. The driver told the officer the screwdriver was needed to open his car door, but the officer was able to open the car door without assistance. *Id.* at ¶ 3. The officer saw prying-type tools in plain view and asked the driver about them. The driver said that the tools were for work. *Id.* However, the officer knew the driver's occupation and that he did not need such tools for work. *Id.* The officer also knew the driver was having financial problems that might motivate him to commit

Case 2023AP000351 Brief of Appellant Filed 06-28-2023 Page 15 of 29

burglary. Id. at ¶ 13. In addition, the driver was already a known suspect in a burglary. Id.

Unlike the officer in *Lefler*, Officer Schuld did not ask Timm any questions about the tire-iron in plain view. He did not know Timm's occupation, and he did not ask. He did not know if Timm had a motive to commit the possible burglaries. Officer Schuld only knew his assignment was to look out for the white Pontiac, that Timm had a prior burglary conviction and that Timm was on supervision. Unlike the defendant in *Lefler*, Timm was not a known suspect. Officer Schuld had no specific, articulable facts that made Timm a suspect. Further, Chief Bauer had no specific, articulable facts to support giving Officer Schuld his assignment. Using the collective knowledge doctrine, the officer was permitted to rely upon any additional facts his chief had, but his chief had no additional facts to support probable cause existed. There was no reason to believe Timm or his white Pontiac was involved in the possible burglaries. The chief told his officer to watch for Timm's white Pontiac on a hunch. Officer Schuld lacked probable cause to search Timm's vehicle.

C. The warrantless search of Timm's car was illegal because there was no reasonable suspicion that Timm was engaged in criminal conduct

The Defendant's Motion to Suppress Fruits of the Vehicle Search cited the constitutional amendments, statutes and case law one would expect to find in a motion to suppress. R34:1; App. 102. While short, the motion asserted four factual claims and the requested relief: 1) Timm was

Case 2023AP000351 Brief of Appellant Filed 06-28-2023 Page 16 of 29

seized based on a pretext and without probable cause; 2) Timm was not seized pursuant to a warrant; 3) Timm did not give valid consent for a vehicle search; 4) the officer did not have reasonable suspicion to believe that Timm committed, was committing or was about to commit a crime; and 5) the Clark County warrant for the installation of a GPS tracking device for Timm's car should be suppressed as it was issued based on information gained during the illegal search at the center of this Case. *Id*.

Courts have explained that to establish reasonable suspicion "the officer must be able to point to specific and articulable facts which, taken together with rational inferences from those facts, objectively warrant a reasonable person with the knowledge and experience of the officer to believe that criminal activity is afoot." *State v. Rutzinski*, 2001 WI 22, ¶ 14, 241 Wis. 2d 729, 623 N.W.2d 516. Reasonableness is not gauged by an officer's "inchoate and unparticularized suspicion or 'hunch'[.]" *Terry*, 392 U.S. at 27. The test focuses on an objectively reasonable officer and "simple good faith on the part of the arresting officer is not enough." *State v. Pugh*, 2013 WI App 12, ¶ 11, 345 Wis. 2d 832, 826 N.W.2d 418.

Here, what the officer knew before searching Timm's vehicle did not amount to reasonable suspicion that he was committing, was about to commit, or had committed a crime. The officer only knew two facts at the time of the stop. He testified "My assignment was to keep an eye out for the white Pontiac Grand Prix," and that the "[s]ubject is possibly involved – or the vehicle was involved in possible burglaries

Case 2023AP000351 Brief of Appellant Filed 06-28-2023 Page 17 of 29

in the – in Spencer area." R38:6; App. 109. The chief that gave the officer his assignment testified that he had no knowledge of Timm or his vehicle being involved in the possible burglaries. He knew that Timm was convicted of burglary in the past and that the white Pontiac Grand Prix was involved in a traffic accident unrelated to any burglaries. *Id.* The chief did not share this information with the officer. *See id.* This does not amount to reasonable suspicion that Timm committed a crime, was committing a crime or was about to commit a crime. The officer testified that he also pulled over the white vehicle for traveling 6 mph over the speed limit. *Id.* at 6; App. 108. This does not amount to reasonable suspicion when added to the officer's assignment that day. The officer observed a tire iron in the backseat of Timm's car when he approached the vehicle.

II. Trial counsel was ineffective for denying Timm the right to testify at the suppression hearing

Mr. Timm's trial counsel was deficient in her handling of the suppression issue, and he was prejudiced as a result of that deficiency, as the evidence resulting from the illegal search of his vehicle should have been suppressed. Mr. Timm has established that trial counsel's failure to allow him to testify and resulting failure to present any evidence to refute voluntary consent violated his state and federal constitutional rights to the effective assistance of counsel.

A. Principles of Law and Standard of Review

The standard, two-pronged test for ineffective assistance of counsel requires that the defendant first show

Case 2023AP000351 Brief of Appellant Filed 06-28-2023 Page 18 of 29

"that counsel's performance was deficient" and second show that "the deficient performance prejudiced the defense." **Strickland v. Washington**, 466 U.S. 668, 687, 104 S. Ct. 2052, 2064 (1984). Although the Court must presume that counsel "rendered adequate assistance and made all decisions in the exercise significant of reasonable professional judgment," id. at 690, the defendant overcomes that "by proving that his presumption attorney's representation unreasonable under was prevailing professional norms and that the challenged action was not sound strategy." *Kimmelman v. Morrison*, 477 U.S. 365, 384 (1986)(citing Strickland. 466 U.S. 688-89). An attorney's performance is deficient if counsel's representation "fell below an objective standard of reasonableness." State v. Johnson, 133 Wis.2d 207, 217, 395 N.W.2d 176 (1986) (quoting Strickland, 539 U.S. 466 U.S. at 688): *Kimmelman*, 477 U.S. at 375.

In evaluating performance, a court should "not construct strategic defense which counsel does not offer" just at it should not second-guess counsel's strategic decisions. *Davis v. Lambert*, 388 F.3d 1052, 1064 (7th Cir. 2004) (*quoting Harris v. Reid*, 894 F.2d 871, 878 (7th Cir. 1990)); *see also Kimmelman*, 477 U.S. at 386-87. "The reasonableness of counsel's performance is to be evaluated from counsel's perspective at the time of the alleged error and in light of all the circumstances." *Id.* at 384 (*citing Strickland*, 466 U.S. at 689).

The deficiency prong is met when counsel's errors result from oversight rather than reasoned strategy. See

Case 2023AP000351 Brief of Appellant Filed 06-28-2023 Page 19 of 29

Wiggins v. Smith, 539 U.S. 510, 534 (2003); State v. Thiel 2003 WI 111, ¶51, 264 Wis.2d 571, 665 N.W.2d 305. To establish prejudice, a defendant must demonstrate "that there is a reasonable probability that, but for counsel's unprofessional errors, the result of the proceeding would have been different." Strickland, 466 U.S. at 694. If this test is satisfied relief is required; no supplemental, abstract inquiry into the "fairness" or "reliability" of the proceedings is permissible. Williams v. Taylor, 529 U.S. 362 (2000). Moreover, "[t]he defendant is not required to show 'that counsel's deficient conduct more likely than not altered the outcome of the case." State v. Moffett, 147 Wis.2d 343, 354 (1989) (quoting Strickland, 466 U.S. at 693)).

Ineffective assistance of counsel claims present mixed questions of law and fact. *See State v. Pitsch*, 124 Wis.2d 628, 633-634, 369 N.W.2d 711 (1985). A trial court's factual findings must be upheld unless clearly erroneous, *see State v. Harvey*, 139 Wis.2d 353, 376, 407 N.W.2d 235 (1987), but whether counsel's performance was deficient and prejudiced Timm is a question of law, which are reviewed *de novo*, *see Pitsch*, 124 Wis.2d at 634.

B. Trial counsel was deficient for not allowing Mr. Timm to testify at the Suppression Hearing

At the close of state's witness testimony, the Court asked trial counsel "Do you intend to call any witnesses?" and trial counsel responded that she did not. <u>Id.</u> at 18; App. 121. The court did not inquire as to whether or not Timm

wished to testify or if his attorney informed him of his right to testify. *See id.* The defense did not call any witnesses. The deficiency of trial counsel's decision is clear from the circuit court's ruling. When issuing its oral ruling at the end of the hearing, the circuit court found:

...[T]here's been no contrary evidence given to this Court at all that, in fact, the officer's testimony was incorrect that he asked permission to search the vehicle and *Mr. Timm gave him permission*. There's clearly nothing contrary, no evidence contrary to that. *Id.* at 27; App. 130 (emphasis added).

Trial counsel had a willing witness – her client. Mr. Timm was the only witness who could contradict the officer's testimony that he consented to the search of his vehicle. Because there was no *Machner*¹ hearing, we do not know counsel's reasons for denying her client the right to testify. We do know from Timm's affidavit that he informed trial counsel before the December 21, 2016 suppression hearing that he wanted to testify. R181:4-8; App. 229-233.

Trial counsel had another opportunity to present evidence on the lack of consent when she filed the Motion to Reconsider (R47; App. 152-156) nine months after filing the Defendant's Motion to Suppress. She did not take advantage of the opportunity to present at defense to the consent at this point either. Instead, the Motion to Reconsider was based on the conflicting ruling in Taylor County that suppressed this very stop. *See id.* Instead of providing Timm's testimony stating that he did not consent to the search and providing the

¹ 92 Wis. 2d 797, 285 N.W.2d 905 (Ct. App. 1979)

-

Case 2023AP000351 Brief of Appellant Filed 06-28-2023 Page 21 of 29

transcript of the Taylor County ruling, trial counsel only provided the two-page written Taylor County decision to the Court. R47:4-5; App. 155-156.

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