Case 2023AP000351 Brief of Respondent Filed 08-29-2023 Page 1 of 14

STATE OF WISCONSIN

COURT OF APPEALS

DISTRICT IV

Case No. 2023AP351-CR

FILED 08-29-2023 CLERK OF WISCONSIN COURT OF APPEALS

STATE OF		
WISCONSIN,		
	Plaintiff-Respondent,	
V.		
WAYNE L. TIMM,		
	Defendant-Appellant.	
Appeal from the Judgment and Final Order Denying Post-conviction Relief in the Circuit Court for Clark County, the Honorable Todd P. Wolf, presiding		
BRIEF OF PLAINTIFF-RESPONDENT

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

ARGUMENT

I. The circuit court correctly denied Timm's suppression motion

The instant case presents a question of constitutional fact subject to a two-part standard of review. *State v. Matejka*, 2001 WI 5, ¶ 16, 241 Wis. 2d 52, 621 N.W.2d 891; see also *State v. Griffith*, 2000 WI 72, ¶ 23, 236 Wis. 2d 48, 58, 613 N.W.2d 72. First, the circuit court's findings of evidentiary or historical fact are upheld unless clearly erroneous. *Matejka*, 2001 WI 5, ¶ 16. Second, The determination of whether Timm was "seized" for Fourth Amendment purposes is reviewed de novo. Id. A review of Timm's argument shows a focus on the seizure issue and a concession that the circuit court's findings of evidentiary or historical fact should be upheld. For the sake of brevity, the State will focus on the seizure issue.

Case 2023AP000351 Brief of Respondent Filed 08-29-2023 Page 8 of 14

A. The consent to search was valid based on the totality of the circumstances.

The Court correctly focused on Ohio v. Robinnette in addressing the issue of seizure. "The Fourth Amendment test for a valid consent to search is that the consent be voluntary, and "[v]oluntariness is a question of fact to be determined from all the circumstances," Ohio v. Robinette, 519 U.S. 33, 117 S.Ct. 417, 136 L.Ed.2d 347 (1996). When Officer Schuld made the stop he made contact with dispatch and did utilize his mobile computer. App. 110 R38:7 From dispatch and his computer, Officer Schuld learned that Timm was on probation for burglary and had a history of burglary charges. App. 110 R38:7 As Officer Schuld walked up to the vehicle, he shined a flashlight in the back seat. App. 110 R38:7 Officer Schuld saw a tire iron and a flat end used to pry stuff open. App. 110 R38:7 Officer Schuld described the tire iron as the shape of an L with a flat head on the end of it, which I believed was used to pry things open as well. App. 112-113 R38:9-10 Officer Schuld had not seen other tire irons in vehicles, and it wasn't typically something he had seen on a seat. App. 110-111 R38:7-8 Based on the totality of the circumstances, Officer Schuld decided to search the vehicle. App. 111 R38:8 Moreover, Officer Schuld asked Timm for consent to search. App. 111 R38:8; Timm consented to the search of the vehicle. App. 111 R38:8 Officer Schuld described Timm as cooperative. App. 111 R38:8 Officer Schuld did not place Timm in handcuffs, did not restrain Timm, and did not place Timm in Officer Schuld's squad car. App. 111-112 R38:8-9 Officer Schul had possession of Timm's driver's license when he asked Timm for consent to search Timm's vehicle. App. 115 R38:12 Officer Schuld did not tell Timm that he was free to go prior requesting consent to search. App. 116 R38:13

Case 2023AP000351 Brief of Respondent Filed 08-29-2023 Page 9 of 14

B. Officer Schuld's actions in furtherance of Chief Bauer's goals were compliant with the Collective Knowledge Doctrine

To further question the validity of the search, Timm raises the Collective Knowledge Doctrine concerning the information relayed from Chief Bauer to the officers in his department. The collective knowledge doctrine permits an officer to stop, search, or arrest a suspect at the direction of another officer or police agency, even if the officer himself does not have firsthand knowledge of facts that amount to the necessary level of suspicion to permit the given action. *U.S. v. Williams*, 627 F.3d 247, 2010 WL 4157339 (7th Cir. 2010) citing *United States v. Hensley*, 469 U.S. 221, 232-33, 105 S.Ct. 675, 83 L.Ed.2d 604 (1985) In order for the collective knowledge doctrine to apply, (1) the officer taking the action must act in objective reliance on the information received, (2) the officer providing the information-or the agency for which he works-must have facts supporting the level of suspicion required, and (3) the stop must be no more intrusive than would have been permissible for the officer requesting it. *U.S. v. Williams*, 627 F.3d 247, 2010 WL 4157339 (7th Cir. 2010) citing *United States v. Nafzger*, 974 F.2d 906, 911 (7th Cir.1992).

Officer Schuld acted in objective reliance on the information received. The traffic stop of Timm was for a speeding violation. App. 108 R38:5 Officer Schuld noticed this particular vehicle for another reason on April 19, 2015 - his assignment to keep an eye out for a white Pontiac Grand Prix. App. 109 R38:6 Officer Schul learned that a white Pontiac such as the one driven by Timm had been involved in burglaries in the area from his department supervisor, Chief Shawn Bauer. App. 115-116 R38:12-13. Furthermore, when Officer Schuld made the stop he made contact with dispatch and did utilize his mobile computer. App. 110 R38:7 From dispatch and his computer, Officer

Case 2023AP000351 Brief of Respondent Filed 08-29-2023 Page 10 of 14

Schuld learned that Timm was on probation for burglary and had a history of burglary charges. App. 110 R38:7

Chief Bauer providing the information to Officer Schuld based on facts supporting the level of suspicion required. In 2010, Spencer Police Chief arrested Timm for a burglary where he handled the investigation from start to finish. App. 117-118 R38:14-15 As Spencer Police Chief, Chief Bauer had access to previous records in the department. Around the time of Officer Schuld's traffic stop in April of 2015, Chief Bauer looked up department records on Timm. App. 118 R38:15 Chief Bauer learned that in 2006 the Spencer Police Department assisted the Marathon County Sheriff's Department in arresting Timm for a burglary. App. 118 R38:15 Chief Bauer also learned of a motor vehicle accident in the village involving Timm where the Village handled the investigation a month before Officer Schuld pulled him over that involved a Pontiac. App. 118-119 R38:15-16 Chief Bauer remembered with Timm and his brother where one of them made mention that they've been involved in burglaries in the past and weren't going to stop doing this activity. App. 119 R38:16 Chief Bauer knew that there were burglaries going on in Clark and Marathon County and knew Timm to be involved in burglaries in the past. App. 119 R38:16 Chief Bauer let his department know to watch out for the white Pontiac previously involved in a car accident. App. 119 R38:16 Chief Bauer believed that Timm had been released from prison in February. App. 120 R38:17 Based on law enforcement experience, Chief Bauer knew burglars are known to keep doing that type of activity. App. 120 R38:17

The stop by Officer Schuld was no more intrusive than would have been permissible for Chief Bauer who had "let his department know to watch out for the white Pontiac previously involved in a car accident requesting it." App. 119 R38:16 Chief Bauer would have had the same access to the information from dispatch and mobile computer

Case 2023AP000351 Brief of Respondent Filed 08-29-2023 Page 11 of 14

regarding Timm's criminal history, which includes burglaries, on top of his individual experience with Timm's criminal history. Moreover, Officer Schuld asked Timm for consent to search. App. 111 R38:8 Timm consented to the search of the vehicle. App. 111 R38:8 Officer Schuld described Timm as cooperative. App. 111 R38:8 Officer Schuld did not place Timm in handcuffs, did not restrain Timm, and did not place Timm in Officer Schuld's squad car. App. 111-112 R38:8-9

II. Timm was not deprived of the effective assistance of counsel

Timm's trial counsel was effective as their performance was not deficient and to the extent it was deficient, it did not prejudice the defense.

Α. Timm's trial counsel was effective as their performance was not deficient As Timm notes in his brief the deficiency prong is met when counsel's errors result from oversight rather than reasoned strategy. Wiggins v. Smith, 539 U.S. 510, 534 (2003); State v. Thiel 2003 WI 111, ¶51, 264 Wis.2d 571, 665 N.W.2d 305. In this case, the Court did not know whether it was oversight rather than reasoned strategy. Timm wants the Court to presume that nothing asked on cross examination would have been negative to Timm despite Taylor County trial counsel not calling Timm to testify. R179 Timm wants the Court to presume what beneficial information would have been obtained from the squad camera video. However, the Taylor County transcript includes testimony from Officer Schuld that the squad video only allows the listener to hear what's happening in the conversation with Officer Schuld and Timm at his vehicle. R179:9-10 Finally, Timm wants the Court to presume that nothing in the Taylor County transcript would have been negative to Timm. The transcript highlights that another reasonable attorney did not call Timm as witness and was successful. R179. The transcript highlights that another reasonable attorney did not play the squad

Case 2023AP000351 Brief of Respondent Filed 08-29-2023 Page 12 of 14

audio and was successful. R179. The transcript highlights that Timm's defense that he wasn't speeding was not raised by either Taylor County trial counsel or Clark County trial counsel. R179. To that end, Timm's concerns about deficiency in Clark County appear to have been successful in Taylor County. Compare R179 to R178:7 Moreover, in attempting to convince the court to reconsider it's denial of the postconviction motion, Timm did not include affidavits of either of his trial counsel in Clark County to show oversight. R181

B. To the extent trial counsel's performance was deficient, it did not prejudice the defense.

As Timm notes in his brief to establish prejudice, a defendant must demonstrate "that there is a reasonable probability that, but for counsel's unprofessional errors, the result of the proceeding would have been different." *Strickland v. Washington*, 466 U.S. 668, 104 S.Ct. 2052 (1984). Timm's reliance on the Taylor County ruling highlights the lack of prejudice. Essentially, all the ways in which Clark County trial counsel was allegedly deficient appeared to have benefited Taylor County trial counsel resulting in a positive ruling and dismissal. Compare R179 to R178:7

III. The circuit court did not err in denying Timm's postconviction motion and motion to reconsider the postconviction without an evidentiary hearing

As Timm notes in his brief a defendant is entitled to a Machner hearing if his postconviction motion sufficiently alleges ineffective assistance of counsel and the record fails to conclusively demonstrate that he is not entitled to relief. *State v. Jackson*, 2023 WI 3, ¶ 1, 405 Wis. 2d 458, 463, 983 N.W.2d 608, 610 (citing *State v. Ruffin*, 2022 WI 34, ¶37, 401 Wis. 2d 619, 974 N.W.2d 432). A court may deny a postconviction motion without an evidentiary hearing if the motion does not raise facts sufficient to entitle the movant to relief, if the motion presents only

Case 2023AP000351 Brief of Respondent Filed 08-29-2023 Page 13 of 14

conclusory allegations, or if the record conclusively demonstrates that the defendant is not entitled to relief. See *State v. Allen*, 2004 WI 106, ¶9, 274 Wis.2d 568, 682 N.W.2d 433. For the same reasons outlined in Section II, Timm's attaching of the Taylor County transcript to the post-conviction motion sans any supporting affidavits by Clark County trial counsel highlighted that his concerns about deficiency in Clark County appear to have been successful in Taylor County. Compare R179 to R178:7 Timm asked the trial court and is asking this Court to make presumptions about a lack of strategy discussions without supporting affidavits that may have been obtained from Clark County Trial Counsel and filed in support of Defendant's Motion to Reconsider Postconviction Decision. R181

CONCLUSION

This Court should affirm the circuit court's ruling denying postconviction relief.

Case 2023AP000351 Brief of Respondent Filed 08-29-2023 Page 14 of 14

FORM AND LENGTH CERTIFICATION – RULE 809.19(8)

I hereby certify that this brief conforms to the rules contained in Wis. Stat. § (Rule) 809.19(8)(b), (bm) and (c) for a brief produced with a proportional serif font. The length of this brief is 3,495 words.